IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1812

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

VICTOR GIORGETTI,

Respondent.

* *

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

* *

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND

Sr. Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0239437

DOUGLAS J. GLAID

Florida Bar No. 0249475 Sr. Asst. Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 110 S.E. 6th Street, 10th Floor Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 712-4600; Fax 712-4761

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County. The Respondent was the appellant and the defendant, respectively in the lower courts. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appeared before the trial court.

The symbol "T" refers to the transcript of the trial proceedings contained in the record on appeal previously forwarded to this Court by the clerk of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The symbol "A" refers to the Appendix attached to this brief, which includes a copy of the district court's opinion. Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis has been supplied by Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant, a sexual offender, was charged with failing to report his change of address within 48 hours, contrary to §§943.0435(4), 943.0435(9), and 944.607(9), Fla. Stat. Following a jury trial, Defendant was found guilty as charged, and was subsequently sentenced to 77.25 months in state prison with credit for time served.

At trial, during defense counsel's cross-examination of Deputy Simmons, the arresting officer, counsel questioned the officer extensively about Defendant's cooperativeness with the deputy just prior to his arrest. (T 442-447). During this examination, inter alia, defense counsel elicited testimony that Defendant voluntarily told the deputy where and how long he had been residing at a residence, that he never attempted to run from the deputy, and that he was extremely cooperative with the deputy. (T 442-447).

On appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Defendant challenged, inter alia, the propriety of the trial court's special instruction to the jury that the State was not required to prove the "element of intent" or that "Defendant acted with a malicious or wrongful mental attitude." (A 2). Defendant also asserted that the trial court reversibly erred by not granting his mistrial motion based on the prosecutor's

questioning of Deputy Simmons on cross-examination concerning Defendant's response when told that he had failed to register at the driver's license office. (A 4). While the Fourth District initially affirmed Defendant's conviction without a written opinion, Giorgetti v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D227 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 16, 2002), the court subsequently granted Defendant's motion for rehearing with a written opinion reversing Defendant's conviction and remanding for a new trial. Giorgetti v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1234 (Fla. 4th DCA May 22, 2002).

Thereafter, the State filed a motion for rehearing or certification of an issue of great public importance to this Court. The district court thereupon issued a corrected opinion denying the rehearing motion but granting certification of the following question as being of great public importance:

Does <u>Chicone</u> apply to the crime created by the sexual offender registration statutes and thus compel the court to presume a scienter or mens rea requirement even though the statutory text fails to contain an explicit requirement of such guilty knowledge?

(A 1-5); <u>Giorgetti v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1663 (Fla. 4th DCA July 17, 2002).

Upon the State's filing of a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court, this Court postponed

Chicone v. State, 684 so 2d 736 (Fla. 1996).

acceptance of discretionary jurisdiction pending the filing of the parties' briefs.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

This Court's decision in Chicone v. State, 684 so 2d 736 (Fla. 1996), does not apply to the regulatory offense created by the sexual offender registration statute, §943.0435, Fla. Stat., so as to compel the trial court to presume a scienter or mens rea requirement, especially in light of the fact that the statute does not explicitly require such guilty knowledge. First of all, Fourth District's instant decision reading t.he an requirement into the State's burden of proving a violation of §943.0435, Fla. Stat. (2000), is clearly in conflict with their prior decisions. Furthermore, given the fact that the Legislature has recently provided in §893.101, Fla. Stat. (2002), that guilty knowledge is not an element of the purely criminal drug offenses under chapter 893, Fla. Stat., it reasonably follows that the Legislature did not intend that the element of guilty knowledge be proven by the State in a prosecution for the regulatory offense involved here. Additionally, the decision of the Fourth District overlooked the settled rule of statutory construction that a statute enacted for the public benefit should be construed liberally in favor of the public, not in favor of a defendant, even though it contains a penal provision. Moreover, the Fourth District's decision clearly overlooked the established proposition that a court, in construing a statute, may not invade the province of the legislature and add words which change the plain meaning of the statute. By adding the element of intent and mens rea to the State's burden of proving a violation of §943.0435, Fla. Stat. (2000), the district court improperly altered the meaning of the statute.

POINT II

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Defendant's motion for mistrial due to the prosecutor's questioning of Officer Simmons on redirect examination since the defense "opened the door" to this testimony by its questioning on cross-examination. If any error occurred, it was clearly harmless given the clear evidence of Defendant's guilt, including most notably Defendant's own admission during his testimony on cross-examination that he did not timely report to the driver's license office after changing his address.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THIS COURT'S DECISION IN CHICONE V. STATE, 684 SO 2d 736 (Fla. 1996), DOES NOT APPLY TO THE REGULATORY OFFENSE CREATED BY THE SEXUAL OFFENDER REGISTRATION STATUTE, §943.0435, FLA. STAT., SO AS TO COMPEL THE TRIAL COURT TO PRESUME A SCIENTER OR MENS REAREQUIREMENT, ESPECIALLY IN LIGHT OF THE FACT THAT THE STATUTE DOES NOT EXPLICITLY REQUIRE SUCH GUILTY KNOWLEDGE.

Fist of all, the Fourth District's instant decision reading an intent requirement into the State's burden of proving a violation of §943.0435, Fla. Stat. (2000), is clearly in conflict with their prior decisions in <u>Quinn v. State</u>, 751 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1999) and Simmons v. State, 753 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 2000). In Ouinn, the court expressly recognized the power of the legislature "to dispense with the element of intent and punish particular acts without regard to a malicious or wrongful mental attitude." Id. at 628. Significant to the court's holding in Ouinn was its proper finding that §943.0435, Fla. Stat., is a "regulatory statute," which fact prompted the court to reject Quinn's argument that the statute's registration requirement was punishment or a sentence. Therefore, the Fourth District's reliance on Chicone v. State, 684 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996), which clearly involved a "criminal" statute as opposed to a "regulatory" statute, as involved here, was misplaced.

Significantly, in <u>Simmons</u>, the Fourth District reiterated that §943.0435 is a regulatory statute and importantly observed that, "Regulatory statutes do <u>not</u> constitute punishment." <u>Id</u>., 753 So. 2d at 763. The observations made by the <u>Simmons</u> Court are of critical importance because the Fourth District, in its instant decision and in stark contrast with its prior holding in <u>Simmons</u>, premised its decision to read an intent element into the statute based on its finding that the statute imposed punishment, and that the statute's reporting requirement was <u>not</u> merely procedural in nature. As Judge Farmer opined in the majority decision sub judice:

These statutes [§943.0435 and **§**944.607] create no mere informational reporting requirement, the violation of which punished with a small fine. In this case the penalty for the offense turned out to be more than six and one-half years imprisonment. In spite of the failure of the legislature to include an explicit element of intent in the statutory text, the authorities cited above require the courts to read a "broadly applicable" intent requirement into the state's burden of proof. We do so now, thus requiring a new trial. (Opinion, p. 4).

(A 4); Giorgetti v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1663 (Fla. 4th DCA July 17, 2002) (corrected opinion on motion for rehearing). Hence, in short, while <u>Simmons</u> expressly held that §943.0435 is <u>not</u> a statute involving punishment, the district court's instant

decision adds an intent element to the statute based <u>solely</u> on the amount of punishment imposed. In other words, while <u>Simmons</u> treated the statute as not being punitive, the Fourth District's decision *sub judice* clearly treats the statute as being punitive. These decisions are therefore in direct conflict and should be reconciled.

By its certified question, the Fourth District asks this Court to interpret Chicone and determine whether its requirement of guilty knowledge in drug possession cases extends to the sexual offender registration statutes. However, by its recent enactment of §893.101, Fla. Stat. (2002), our Legislature expressly found that the Chicone decision holding that guilty knowledge is an element that must be proved by the State in a drug possession case was contrary to legislative intent. Given the fact that the Legislature has announced that guilty knowledge is not an element of the purely criminal drug offenses under chapter 893, Fla. Stat., it reasonably follows that Legislature did not intend that the element of guilty knowledge be proven by the State in a prosecution for the regulatory offense involved here. Indeed, had the Legislature intended that an intent/mens rea element be included in the sexual offender registration offenses, the State submits that it would have stated as such. At most, similar to §893.101(2), Fla. Stat., the

State believes that the lack of guilty knowledge is an affirmative defense to the sexual offender registration offenses.

Moreover, the State further submits that the district court's decision sub judice is inconsistent with decisions holding that the analogous Sexual Predators Act, §775.21, Fla. Stat., is not punitive in nature and, therefore, is not required to be construed in favor of a defendant. See Walker v. State, 718 So. 2d 217, 218 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)(rejecting defendant's argument that sexual predator registration statute was penal in nature and was required to be construed in favor of defendant); Ortega v. State, 712 So. 2d 833, 833 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (registration provisions of sexual predator statute were regulatory, not punitive); State v. Carrasco, 701 So. 2d 656, 656 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (same); see also Andrews v. State, 792 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

Furthermore, the decision of the Fourth District overlooked the settled rule of statutory construction that a statute enacted for the public benefit should be construed liberally in favor of the public, not in favor of a defendant, even though it contains a penal provision. See State v. Hamilton, 388 So. 2d 561, 563 (Fla. 1980); see also Walker, 718 So. 2d at 218 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (rejecting defendant's argument that sexual predator

registration statute was required to be construed in favor of defendant).

Here, as in <u>Hamilton</u>, it is clear that the statute in question was intended by the legislature to operate in the public interest and protect the public welfare. The statute not being located in the penal code but rather in the chapter dealing with the Department of Law Enforcement, the purpose of the statute is to protect citizens from sex offenders. It provides for the registration of sex offenders and the release of information to the public concerning sex offenders. <u>See</u> §943.0435, Fla. Stat. (2000). The preamble to Chapter 97-299 <u>Laws of Florida</u>, states in part:

WHEREAS, the Legislature and law enforcement agencies recognize that the release of criminal history information or other information regarding criminal offenders is essential to the public safety and welfare, and

* * *

WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that the public is especially concerned about certain sex offenders, and

* * *

WHEREAS, The Legislature intends to enhance public access to information regarding certain sex offenders by creating a public access telephone number for releasing information

<u>See also Carrasco</u>, 701 So. 2d at 656 (registration requirements of sexual predator statute are designed to protect the public from sexual predators who are widely regarded as having a high rate of recidivism). As the Fifth District Court of Appeal opined in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 795 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), with regard to the legislative intent behind the enactment of \$943.0435:

[T]he legislative intent of the Florida Sexual Offender notification and registration requirement is not intended to be punitive, but is designed to be remedial in nature by protecting the public from sexual offenders and protecting children from sexual activity and the information collected and disseminated as a result of sexual offender status is public information to which the public is entitled to access.

Id. at 87-88. At bar, by reading an intent or guilty knowledge element into the statute, the district court necessarily construed the statute in favor of the defendant and not the public welfare, in derogation of the foregoing well-established case law.

Most importantly, the Fourth District's decision clearly overlooked the established proposition that a court, in construing a statute, may not invade the province of the legislature and add words which change the plain meaning of the statute. See Johnson, 795 So. 2d at 85, citing State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1980). Here, by adding the element of

intent/mens rea to the State's burden of proving a violation of §943.0435, Fla. Stat. (2000), the court clearly altered the meaning of the statute. This alteration therefore violated the settled principle of statutory construction set forth above. In this regard, as Associate Judge Roby aptly noted in his special concurring opinion:

The legislature did not include the explicit element of intent into the statutory text and I do not believe that the court should rewrite the laws of this state. The legislature is constitutionally charged with this task. The previously rendered opinion of this court correctly reflects the law of this state on the issues raised in this appeal except as noted below. See Simmons v. State, 753 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Quinn v. State, 751 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

(A 5); Giorgetti v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at D1665. Consistent with Judge Roby's opinion, it is established that the legislature has the power to define what is an element of a crime and what is an affirmative defense. See Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 205-207 (1977) (upholding a New York statute that required the defendant, at the guilt stage, to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the affirmative defense of extreme emotional disturbance). Indeed, the Chicone Court itself observed that "the legislature is vested with the authority to define the elements of a crime." Id., 684 So. 2d at 741. Here,

by adding the element of scienter or mens rea to the sexual offender registration offense proscribed by §943.0435(9), Fla. Stat. (2000), the district court improperly encroached upon the province of the Florida Legislature.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL DUE THE PROSECUTOR'S QUESTIONING TO OFFICER SIMMONS ON REDIRECT EXAMINATION SINCE DEFENSE "OPENED THE DOOR" TO ITS QUESTIONING ON CROSS-TESTIMONY BY **EXAMINATION.**

It is well settled that a motion for mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Florida has continuously adhered to the long established rule that "the power to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury should be exercised with great care and caution and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity." Salvatore v. State, 366 So. 2d 745, 750 (Fla. 1978). As this Court instructed in Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985), a mistrial should be granted only in circumstances where the "error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." Thus, a trial court's denial of a mistrial motion is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id.

At bar, the Fourth District also held that the trial court reversibly erred by not granting Defendant's mistrial motion based on the prosecutor's questioning of Deputy Simmons on cross-examination concerning Defendant's response when told that he had failed to register at the driver's license office. Since, inter alia, the defense opened the door to this testimony by virtue of

defense counsel's cross-examination of the deputy, the State submits that no reversible error occurred.

In an obvious attempt to enhance Defendant's credibility with the jury, during defense counsel's cross-examination of Deputy Simmons, counsel questioned the officer extensively about Defendant's cooperativeness with the deputy just prior to his arrest. (T 442-447). During this examination, inter alia, defense counsel elicited testimony that Defendant voluntarily told the deputy where and how long he had been residing at a residence, that he never attempted to run from the deputy, and that he was extremely cooperative with the deputy. (T 442-447). In view of the questioning by defense counsel, it was proper for the prosecution to have asked the deputy on redirect examination concerning Defendant's response when told that he had not registered at the driver's license office As Professor Ehrhardt teaches concerning matters which may be addressed on redirect examination, "The cross-examination may 'open the door' to the admission of certain testimony so that it will not be excluded during the redirect examination." Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence §612.3 (2001 Edition); see Metropolitan Dade County v. Zapata, 601 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (although evidence of a mock drowning drill was inadmissible under section 90.404(2) because of the dissimilarities, the evidence was admissible because

counsel opened the door during cross-examination of the witness. "As a general rule, a party may re-examine a witness about matters brought out on cross-examination ... Testimony is admissible on redirect examination which tends to qualify, limit or explain testimony elicited on cross-examination."); State v. Trujillo, 748 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) (introduction of certain evidence can often open the door to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence).

Unlike the case of <u>State v. Hoggins</u>, 718 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 1998) relied on by Defendant below, which involved a comment on the defendant's post-arrest silence, the complained-of questioning and Defendant's responses thereto occurred prior to his arrest. (T 436-447). Moreover, since Defendant never invoked his right to silence, it was not error for the prosecutor to have questioned Deputy Simmons concerning Defendant's response when told that he had not registered at the driver's licence office. <u>See Thomas v. State</u>, 726 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

Furthermore, in accordance with the foregoing, the State maintains that the prosecutor's complained-of questioning of Officer Simmons on redirect examination was essentially an "invited response" to defense counsel's examination of the officer on cross examination. Analogously, in Rodriguez v.

State, 753 So. 2d 29, 38-39 (Fla. 2000), this Court distinguished from the rule prohibiting comments on the failure of the defendant to testify a category of cases involving "invited response." Indeed, it is clear that this Court in Rodriguez acknowledged an exception for an invited response arising from the context in which the prosecutor's statement is presented. See Rich v. State, 756 So. 2d 1095, 1096 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); see also Brown v. State, 771 So. 2d 603 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (prosecutor's comments during closing argument that nobody testified that victim's death was a suicide were permissible as invited response where defense counsel argued throughout entire trial that victim's death was a suicide).

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