IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT

STATE OF FLORIDA,)			
Petitioner,)			
vs.)	CASE	NO.	SC02-1812
VICTOR GIORGETTI,)			
Respondent.)			
))			

Florida

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

DEA ABRAMSCHMITT
Assistant Public Defender
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of

Florida Bar No. 084506 Attorney for Victor Giorgetti The Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, Sixth Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

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

While acknowledging that the legislature has latitude to declare an offense and exclude the element of knowledge or scienter, the Court clarified that "we deal here with conduct that is wholly passive - mere failure to register. It is unlike the commission of acts, or the failure to act under circumstances that should alert the doer to the consequences of

his deed." Id. at 228, 243 (emphasis added). It noted that due process placed some limits on police power, and ingrained in the concept of due process was the requirement of notice. Id. It found that the Los Angeles law differed from other types of registration laws in that the "violation of its provisions is unaccompanied by any activity whatever, mere presence in the city being the test." Id. at 229, 243. The Court went on:

We believe that actual knowledge of the duty to register or proof of the probability of such knowledge and subsequent failure to comply are necessary before a conviction under the ordinance can stand.

Id. at 229, 243. The Court concluded, "[w]here a person did not know of the duty to register and where there was no proof of the probability of such knowledge, he may not be convicted consistently with due process." Id. at 229-30, 243-44.

Lambert presents virtually the same scenario as the instant case. Like the ordinance in Lambert, section 943.0435 also punishes wholly passive behavior. Unlike Balint or Freed, there was no conduct here, such as possessing firearms or hand grenades or selling controlled drugs, which would have alerted a person that they might be running afoul of the law. Here, like Lambert, a person can suffer severe sanctions for merely living in the state, or moving from one home to another. Although Respondent was allowed to present evidence that he did not understand the statute to require him to continue to register once he was off probation, with even his prior attorney

testifying that he did not think the registration law applied to Respondent, the jury was basically told to ignore that evidence because the State did not have to prove knowledge or intent. Conviction of failure to register under § 943.0435, without any element of knowledge or intent, violates due process just as the ordinance did in Lambert.

Petitioner cites to <u>State v. Hamilton</u>, 388 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 1980), in support of its argument that statutes enacted for the public benefit must be construed in favor of the public, and not in favor of the defendant, as a penal statute would be. However, even though this Court acknowledged that the Pollution Control Act was intended to operation in the public interest, it still held that the statute in <u>Hamilton</u> was unconstitutional because it criminally penalized simple negligence. <u>Id.</u> at 563-64. Furthermore, as indicated *supra*, the penalty portion of §943.0435 does not comport with "public welfare" treatment.

Failing to register as a sex offender within 48 hours of moving is a third degree felony. This Court made it clear that Florida has the same "background rule of the common law favoring mens rea" as federal law. Chicone v. State, 684 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996). As the Fourth wrote in Carter v. State, 710 So. 2d 110, 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998): "Justice Anstead's opinion [in Chicone], speaking for a unanimous court, contains a thorough analysis of why, under both federal and Florida law, intent or

knowledge is a prerequisite whenever offenses carry substantial criminal sanctions, regardless of how criminal statutes are worded." After all, one of the reasons scienter is generally presumed to be an element of any felony is that "'felony' is as bad a word as you can give to man or thing." Morissette, supra.

Quite simply, a law which makes its violation a third degree felony without requiring some kind of scienter or guilty mind cannot be constitutional. Respondent recognizes that this Court has a "duty to avoid a holding of unconstitutionality if a fair construction of the legislation will so allow." State v. Ecker, 311 So. 2d 104, 109 (Fla. 1975); Cohen v. State, 125 So. 2d 560, 562 (Fla. 1960). The legislature was silent regarding a guilty mind element of section 943.0435(9). Thus, the statute, on its face, does not violate constitutional principles. Rather, it is the interpretation of this statute as not requiring any form of afoul mens rea which bluow run $\circ f$ the Constitution. Accordingly, Respondent urges this Court to affirm Giorgetti because the Fourth's opinion comports with the well-settled principles of American jurisprudence and constitutional due process.

POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER THE PROSECUTOR ELICITED SEVERAL REMARKS FROM DEPUTY SIMMONS CONCERNING RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO PROTEST WHEN HE WAS TOLD HE HAD VIOLATED SECTION 943.0435. [RESTATED]

The Fourth also held that the trial court erred when it admitted testimony by the arresting officer regarding the fact that Respondent did not respond or object when the officer advised him that he was being arrested for failing to register his new address. Giorgetti, 821 So. 2d at 422. The appellate court specifically found that the testimony was not an invited response to the defense's line of questioning regarding the fact that Respondent was helpful and cooperative at the time of his arrest. The court also disagreed with Petitioner's allegation that the objected-to testimony concerned events which occurred prior to Respondent's arrest. Id. Respondent asks this Court to affirm on this point, also, since the transcript reveals that the deputy clearly and unambiguously made prejudicial comments relating to Respondent's right to remain silent.

The United States Supreme Court has ruled that comments regarding a defendant's silence at the time of his arrest, even when used for impeachment purposes, violate the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Doyle v. Ohio</u>, 426 U.S. 610, 619, 96 S.Ct. 2240, 2245 (1976). The <u>Doyle</u> Court wrote:

When a person under arrest is informed, as <u>Miranda</u> requires, that he may remain silent . . . it seems to me that it does not comport with due process to permit the prosecution during the trial to call attention to his silence at the time of arrest and to insist that because he did not speak about the facts of the case at that time, as he was told he need not do, an unfavorable inference might be drawn as to the truth of his trial testimony . .

Id. at 619, 2245. Any comment on a defendant's silence at the time of arrest is subject to the "fairly susceptible" test. <u>State v. Hoggins</u>, 718 So. 2d 761, 769 (Fla. 1998). comment is "fairly susceptible" of being construed as a comment on the defendant's exercise of his right to remain silent, it is Id. Such comments have been designated "high risk error. of the substantial likelihood that because errors" impermissible comments will vitiate the right to a fair trial by influencing the jury verdict. Sharp v. State, 605 So. 2d 146, 148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). While erroneous admission of comments about a defendant's silence at the time of arrest are not per se reversible error, they are subject to a "rigorous harmless error" test. <u>Id.</u> This test requires the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict.

In <u>Hoggins</u>, two clerks at a convenience store were held up at gunpoint and robbed of the cash register drawer and a cigar box full of lottery tickets. <u>Hoggins</u>, 718 So. 2d at 762. The gunman fired two shots at the clerks as he left. Later that

evening, police observed a man riding a bicycle carrying a cash register drawer and a cigar box. Id. When the officers started to pursue the man, he fled, wrecking the bicycle and running into an apartment complex. <u>Id.</u> The officers followed a trail of lottery tickets and food stamps to the door of one of the apartments. The mother of defendant's child answered the door and gave the police permission to search the apartment. $\underline{\mathsf{Id}}$. Hoggins was found in an upstairs bedroom, where he handcuffed and brought downstairs. Id. at 763. One of the convenience store clerks was brought to the apartment to see if he could identify the defendant. The victim threatened to kill Hoggins and was so enraged that police had to restrain him. Id. At that point, they placed Hoggins under arrest. The officers did not read Hoggins his Miranda rights until they removed him from the apartment. Id.

Hoggins' defense was that he had been visiting his child at the apartment that night. <u>Id.</u> While he was sitting on the front steps, he saw someone run through the complex and hide something in the playground. <u>Id.</u> When Hoggins investigated, he found the drawer and cigar box, which he took back to the apartment. Id.

Hoggins testified at trial, and the prosecution asked him about whether or not he had previously offered his version of events to the police. <u>Id.</u> at 763. The prosecutor asked, "You

never told them, the police, this story that you just told the jury, did you?" and "You never told anyone at that time [after the burglary victim identified you] the story you just told us here today?" Id. It was established that the police did not read Hoggins his rights while he was still in the apartment. Thereafter, the prosecution asked, "Okay. That's [the reading of Miranda warnings] not the issue here. The issue here is that you have just been involved in something very serious, and you didn't say anything?" Id. There were several other questions about how and why Hoggins did not offer his defense at the time of his arrest.

This Court held that the state's use of post-arrest silence was improper even when the record is silent as to exactly when the defendant received his Miranda warnings. Id. at 768-69. In reversing Hoggins' conviction upon finding that the trial court had committed reversible error, this Court wrote, "The time of arrest is not an occasion when circumstances naturally call upon a defendant to speak out. On the contrary, there are many reasons that a defendant may choose to remain silent." Id. at 771 (emphasis added).

In the instant case, the prosecutor's comments about Respondent's silence at the time of his arrest were at least as direct and egregious as the prosecutor's remarks in <u>Hoggins</u>.

Deputy Simmons was asked numerous questions about Respondent's response to being told that he had failed to register:

STATE: What was the defendant's response when you told him that the teletype showed you that he had not registered with D.M.V. as a sex offender, if there was any response?

SIMMONS: I don't recall that there was one.

STATE: He didn't scream and holler, "No, I don't have to do anything?"

SIMMONS: I don't recall that, no.

STATE: There is nothing that's in your reports to show that he objected in any way to what you told him? SIMMONS: That's correct.

STATE: In between, had you already told the defendant about what you found on teletype before or after Sergeant Silio?

SIMMONS: I don't recall that.

STATE: But either way he didn't scream and holler and say, "No, no, no, you're mistaken?"

SIMMONS: No, he did not.

STATE: So during this time when you told him he doesn't have to answer any of your questions or say anything to you, he hadn't done anything to object in what you're telling him? SIMMONS: He did not.

(T. 447-49) (emphasis supplied) By the State's own words, it is obvious that the prosecutor was referring to the time of Respondent's arrest, after or concurrent to the time Respondent was read his Miranda warnings.

Other testimony also establishes the chain of events. Simmons testified that once he found out that Respondent was a sex offender and there was a discrepancy between Respondent's ID card and the address he claimed to be living, Simmons contacted his supervisor, Sergeant Silio, who instructed Simmons to place Respondent under arrest. (T. 436) The prosecutor then asked

Simmons, "After speaking with Sergeant Silio, what did you do with regards to the defendant?" Simmons answered, "Placed him under arrest." (T. 436) Later, Simmons testified that, "[a]fter I found out what teletype told me then that's when I contact Sergeant Silio, yes." The prosecutor asked, "In between, had you already told the defendant about what you found on the teletype before or after Sergeant Silio?" Simmons answered, "I don't recall that." (T. 447)

In a recent case, the Fourth District held that a prosecutor's remarks about a defendant's silence were reversible error when the defendant had been taken into custody for interrogation, but not yet formally arrested, <u>Harris v. State</u>, 726 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1999). Harris and the victim had previously been involved in a relationship which had produced one child. Id. At the time of the incident, Harris and his girlfriend were estranged, and their daughter was living with her mother. Id. at 805. Harris and the co-defendant, Cutts, went to the ex-girlfriend's where Cutts shot her twelve times. <u>Id.</u> Her body was found with her live daughter a few feet away. Cutts pled guilty and received a favorable sentence in exchange for his testimony against Harris. <u>Id.</u> At trial, the State introduced evidence regarding the fact that Harris did not ask about his daughter when he was first approached by police, nor did he tell the officers that Cutts gave him the gun to hide or

that it was Cutts, alone, who did the shooting. <u>Id.</u> The prosecutor also commented about this evidence in closing argument. Harris was convicted of second degree murder, but the appellate court reversed, concluding that the trial court erred in permitting the prosecutor to present testimony relating to Harris' constitutional right to silence. <u>Id.</u> at 804. The <u>Harris</u> court wrote, "under <u>Hoggins</u>, any reference, either through testimony or in argument, to a defendant's exercise of silence after the arrest is impermissible." <u>Id.</u>

The State argued that the controversial comments that related to Harris' silence took place before he had been arrested, and, therefore, the comments did not violate his right to silence. The record indicated, however, that some of the testimony and comments referred to Harris' silence when he was first taken into custody for interrogation the day before he was formally charged, and some others concerned his failure to speak after he was formally charged. Id. The Fourth held that the prosecutor's comments and other evidence concerning Harris' failure to speak violated his right to silence because Harris was taken into custody by the police and brought to the station for interrogation. Concluding that "these comments on silence during a custodial interrogation before Miranda warnings were given constitute harmful error," the Fourth reversed. Id.

In the instant case, Respondent was outside speaking with Simmons after the officer had come to the house asking about a third person. Simmons asked Respondent for some identification, which he then ran a check on. Finding that Respondent was a sex offender and that his I.D. did not match the address where Respondent told Simmons he was actually living, Simmons called his supervisor (Silio) for instruction. Simmons did not recall confronting Respondent with the discrepancy prior to calling his Simmons testified that he **immediately** placed supervisor. Respondent under arrest after speaking with Silio. While the unclear regarding exactly when record was Simmons Respondent his Miranda rights, the prosecutor referred to them being given on the spot when he asked Simmons, "[s]o during this time when you told him he doesn't have to answer any of your questions or say anything to you, he hadn't done anything to object in what you're telling him?"

The comments by Simmons went way beyond the "fairly susceptible" test; they were direct, clear testimony about what Respondent did not say in his own defense at the time of his arrest. This is so prejudicial, such a violation of Respondent's constitutional right to remain silent, that it really amounts to fundamental error. And these comments were in no way invited simply because the defense made the point that Respondent had been cooperative with the officer.

Thus, the prosecutor's questions about Respondent's lack of protest plainly referred to his silence at the time he was in the process of being arrested and having his Miranda rights being read to him. Consequently, these questions constituted impermissible comments on Respondent's silence and violated due process. The Fourth correctly ruled that the trial court committed reversible error when it allowed the prosecutor to ask those questions of Deputy Simmons. Accordingly, Respondent asks this Court to affirm the decision below.

CONCLUSION

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